CIGNA MEDICAL COVERAGE POLICIES - MUSCULOSKELETAL

CMM-318: Shoulder Arthroplasty/ Replacement/ Resurfacing/Revision/Arthrodesis

Effective Date: March 7, 2026





Instructions for use

The following coverage policy applies to health benefit plans administered by Cigna. Coverage policies are intended to provide guidance in interpreting certain standard Cigna benefit plans and are used by medical directors and other health care professionals in making medical necessity and other coverage determinations. Please note the terms of a customer's particular benefit plan document may differ significantly from the standard benefit plans upon which these coverage policies are based. For example, a customer's benefit plan document may contain a specific exclusion related to a topic addressed in a coverage policy.

In the event of a conflict, a customer's benefit plan document always supersedes the information in the coverage policy. In the absence of federal or state coverage mandates, benefits are ultimately determined by the terms of the applicable benefit plan document. Coverage determinations in each specific instance require consideration of:

- 1. The terms of the applicable benefit plan document in effect on the date of service
- 2. Any applicable laws and regulations
- 3. Any relevant collateral source materials including coverage policies
- 4. The specific facts of the particular situation

Coverage policies relate exclusively to the administration of health benefit plans. Coverage policies are not recommendations for treatment and should never be used as treatment guidelines.

This evidence-based medical coverage policy has been developed by EviCore, Inc. Some information in this coverage policy may not apply to all benefit plans administered by Cigna.

These guidelines include procedures EviCore does not review for Cigna. Please refer to the <u>Cigna CPT code</u> <u>list</u> for the current list of high-tech imaging procedures that EviCore reviews for Cigna.

CPT® (Current Procedural Terminology) is a registered trademark of the American Medical Association (AMA). CPT® five-digit codes, nomenclature and other data are copyright 2025 American Medical Association. All Rights Reserved. No fee schedules, basic units, relative values or related listings are included in the CPT book. AMA does not directly or indirectly practice medicine or dispense medical services. AMA assumes no liability for the data contained herein or not contained herein.

© Copyright 2025 EviCore healthcare

Table of Contents

| Guideline | Page |
|---|------|
| Definitions | 3 |
| General Guidelines | 7 |
| Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement) | 9 |
| Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) | 12 |
| Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) | 15 |
| Shoulder Resurfacing | 19 |
| Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) | 21 |
| Shoulder Arthrodesis | |
| Codes (CMM-318) | |
| Evidence Discussion (CMM-318) | 29 |
| References (CMM-318) | 33 |

Definitions

| Guideline | Page |
|-------------|------|
| Definitions | 4 |

Definitions

CMM.JT.DF.318

v2.0.2025

Anatomic Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) a surgical technique that involves replacing the humeral head and the glenoid. A total shoulder arthroplasty is typically the best option if the glenoid is damaged, but sufficient bone and rotator cuff remain to ensure that the glenoid component will last.

Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement)

a surgical technique that involves replacing the humeral head and not replacing the glenoid (socket), which is typically the best option if the glenoid does not have any arthritis or if there is some concern that the glenoid component might fail if it is replaced.

Massive Rotator Cuff Tear

a full-thickness rotator cuff tear >5 cm (Cofield).

Non-Surgical Management (with regard to the treatment of shoulder pain) any provider-directed non-surgical treatment, which has been demonstrated in the scientific literature as efficacious and/or is considered reasonable care in the treatment of shoulder pain. The types of treatment involved can include, but are not limited to, the following: relative rest/activity modification; supervised physiotherapy modalities and therapeutic exercises; prescription and non-prescription medications; assistive devices; and/or, injections.

Prosthesis

an artificial device used to replace a structural element within a joint to improve and enhance function.

Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) a surgical technique that involves replacing both the humeral head and the glenoid, but the ball and socket are reversed to improve muscle function. This allows the deltoid muscle, which has a longer movement arm, to generate greater force, allowing it to act in place of an inadequate functioning or torn rotator cuff.

Revision of Shoulder **Arthroplasty** (Replacement)

a surgical technique that involves reconstruction or replacement due to failure or complication of previous shoulder arthroplasty.

Rotator Cuff Arthropathy

a condition that results from ALL of the following:

- rotator cuff dysfunction (e.g., secondary to unrepairable/ irreparable massive rotator cuff tear)
- advanced glenohumeral arthritis
- radiographically diminished acromio-humeral distance

Shoulder Arthrodesis

a surgical resection and fusion of the shoulder

(glenohumeral) joint.

Shoulder Arthroplasty/ Replacement an orthopedic surgical procedure during which the articular surface of the shoulder joint is replaced, remodeled, or realigned.

Shoulder **Pseudoparesis** a shoulder dysfunction, particularly in the setting of a massive unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear, in which there is the presence of less than 90° of active elevation.

Shoulder **Pseudoparalysis**

a shoulder dysfunction, particularly in the setting of a massive unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear, with ALL of the following: the presence of true anterosuperior escape: no true active shoulder elevation; and, the individual is only able to demonstrate a shrug.

Walch Classification of Glenoid Morphology

a system used to describe glenohumeral osteoarthritis.

- Type A: centered humeral head, concentric wear, no subluxation of the humeral head
 - A1: minor central erosion
 - A2: major central erosion, humeral head protruding into the glenoid cavity
- Type B: humeral head subluxated posteriorly, biconcave glenoid with asymmetric wear
 - B1: narrowing of the posterior joint space, subchondral sclerosis, osteophytes
 - B2: biconcave aspect of the glenoid with posterior rim erosion and retroverted glenoid
 - B3: monoconcave and posterior wear with >15° retroversion, or >70% posterior humeral head subluxation, or both
- Type C:
 - C1: dysplastic glenoid with >25° retroversion regardless of the erosion
 - C2: biconcave, posterior bone loss, posterior translation of the humeral head
- Type D: glenoid anteversion or anterior humeral head subluxation <40°

General Guidelines

| Guideline | Pag |
|--------------------|-----|
| | |
| General Guidelines | 8 |

General Guidelines

CMM.JT.GG.318

v2.0.2025

Application of Guideline

- The determination of medical necessity for the performance of shoulder surgery is always made on a case-by-case basis.
- For advanced imaging indications prior to shoulder arthroplasty/shoulder replacement refer to MS-12: Osteoarthritis and MS-19: Shoulder.
- For advanced imaging indications following shoulder arthroplasty/shoulder replacement refer to <u>MS-16: Post-Operative Joint Replacement Surgery and</u> <u>MS-19: Shoulder.</u>

Health Equity Considerations

Health equity is the highest level of health for all individuals; health inequity is the avoidable difference in health status or distribution of health resources due to the social conditions in which individuals are born, grow, live, work, and age. Social determinants of health are the conditions in the environment that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and quality of life outcomes and risks. Examples include the following: safe housing, transportation, and neighborhoods; racism, discrimination, and violence; education, job opportunities, and income; access to nutritious foods and physical activity opportunities; access to clean air and water; and language and literacy skills.

Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement)

| Guideline | Pag |
|---|-----|
| Hami Arthroplasty (Panlasament) Indications | 10 |
| Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications | |

Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications

CMM.JT.IN.318

v2.0.2025

Hemi-arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **medically necessary** for ANY of the following conditions when ALL of the associated criteria have been met:

Arthritic Conditions with Inadequate Bone Stock and Avascular Necrosis (AVN)

- Radiographic imaging and/or an advanced diagnostic study (e.g., MRI, CT) correlates with the individual's reported symptoms and physical exam findings and is conclusive for EITHER of the following:
 - Arthritic conditions in which the glenoid bone stock is inadequate to support a glenoid prosthesis
 - Avascular necrosis without glenoid involvement
- Function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or demands of employment) for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration

Proximal Humerus Fracture NOT Amendable to Internal Fixation

 Radiographic imaging and/or an advanced diagnostic study (e.g., MRI, CT, etc.) is conclusive for a proximal humerus fracture that is not amenable to internal fixation

Hemi-Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Not Medically Necessary

Hemi-arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **not medically necessary** for ANY other indication, condition, or when ANY of the following are present:

- · active local or systemic infection
- paralytic disorder of the shoulder (e.g., flail shoulder due to irreversible brachial plexus palsy, spinal cord injury, or neuromuscular disease)
- one or more uncontrolled or unstable medical conditions that would significantly increase the risk of morbidity (e.g., cardiac, pulmonary, liver, genitourinary, or metabolic disease; hypertension; abnormal serum electrolyte levels)
- Charcot joint
- advanced destructive degenerative joint disease (i.e., rheumatoid arthritis or osteoarthritis) resulting in marked joint space narrowing
- rotator cuff tear arthropathy

Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement)

| Guideline | Page |
|--|------|
| Total Chaulder Arthroplach (Doplacement) Indications | 12 |
| Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications | |
| Total Shoulder Artifioplasty (Replacement) Non-indications | |

Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications

CMM.JT.IN.318

v2.0.2025

Total shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **medically necessary** when ALL of the following criteria have been met:

- Radiographic imaging and/or advanced diagnostic study (i.e., MRI, CT) correlates
 with the individual's reported symptoms and physical exam findings and is conclusive
 for advanced destructive degenerative joint disease (i.e., osteoarthritis, rheumatoid
 arthritis, osteoarthritis) with marked joint space narrowing and ANY of the following
 findings:
 - irregular joint surfaces
 - glenoid sclerosis
 - glenoid osteophyte changes
 - flattened glenoid
 - cystic changes in the humeral head
- Symptoms include function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or demands of employment) for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration

Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Not Medically Necessary

Total shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **not medically necessary** for ANY other indication, condition, or when ANY of the following are present:

- active local or systemic infection
- paralytic disorder of the shoulder (e.g., flail shoulder due to irreversible brachial plexus palsy, spinal cord injury, or neuromuscular disease)
- one or more uncontrolled or unstable medical conditions that would significantly increase the risk of morbidity (e.g., cardiac, pulmonary, liver, genitourinary, or metabolic disease; hypertension; abnormal serum electrolyte levels)
- Charcot joint

Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement)

| Guideline | Pag |
|---|-----|
| | |
| Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications | 16 |
| Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications | 18 |

Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications

CMM.JT.IN.318

v2.0.2025

Reverse total shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **medically necessary** for ANY of the following conditions when ALL of the associated criteria have been met:

Rotator Cuff Tear Pathology

- Dysfunctional rotator cuff with ANY of the following additional findings:
 - rotator cuff tear arthropathy
 - pseudoparesis or pseudoparalysis with a massive unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear
 - failed hemi-arthroplasty with an unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear
 - failed total shoulder arthroplasty with an unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear
- Physical exam demonstrates findings supporting that the individual has functional use of the deltoid muscle
- Symptoms include function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which
 interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or
 demands of employment for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration

Glenoid Retroversion

- CT confirms glenoid retroversion with Walch Classification B2, B3, or C glenoid changes
- Physical exam demonstrates findings supporting that the individual has functional use of the deltoid muscle
- Symptoms include function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which
 interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or
 demands of employment for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration

Posterior Humeral Head Subluxation

- X-ray or advanced imaging confirms posterior humeral head subluxation > 50%
- Physical exam demonstrates findings supporting that the individual has functional use of the deltoid muscle

- Symptoms include function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or demands of employment for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration

Reconstruction after Tumor Resection and Shoulder Fracture NOT Amendable to Other Repair/Reconstruction Techniques

- · Performed for EITHER of the following:
 - reconstruction after tumor resection
 - radiographic imaging and/or an advanced diagnostic study (i.e., MRI, CT) is conclusive for a shoulder fracture that is not repairable or cannot be reconstructed with other techniques

Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Not Medically Necessary

Reverse total shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **medically necessary** for ANY other indication, condition, or when ANY of the following are present:

- active local or systemic infection
- paralytic disorder of the shoulder (e.g., flail shoulder due to irreversible brachial plexus palsy, spinal cord injury, or neuromuscular disease)
- deltoid deficiency (e.g., axillary nerve palsy)
- one or more uncontrolled or unstable medical conditions that would significantly increase the risk of morbidity (e.g., cardiac, pulmonary, liver, genitourinary, or metabolic disease; hypertension; abnormal serum electrolyte levels)
- Charcot joint

Shoulder Resurfacing

| Guideline | Page |
|--------------------------------------|------|
| | |
| Shoulder Resurfacing Non-Indications | 20 |

Shoulder Resurfacing Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Experimental, Investigational, or Unproven (EIU)

• Shoulder resurfacing (total, hemi, or partial resurfacing) is considered **experimental**, **investigational**, **or unproven**.

Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement)

| Guideline | Pag |
|---|-----|
| | |
| Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications | 22 |
| Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications | 23 |

Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Indications

CMM.JT.IN.318

v2.0.2025

Revision of shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered **medically necessary** for an individual who has previously undergone a hemi or total shoulder arthroplasty and EITHER of the following criteria have been met:

- Presence of ANY of the following findings:
 - recurrent prosthetic dislocation that is unresponsive to provider-directed nonsurgical management
 - instability of the components
 - aseptic loosening
 - periprosthetic infection
 - periprosthetic fracture
- Symptoms include unexplained function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or demands of employment) for greater than six (6) months duration that is unresponsive to provider-directed non-surgical management

Revision of Shoulder Arthroplasty (Replacement) Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Not Medically Necessary

 Revision of shoulder arthroplasty (replacement) is considered not medically necessary for ANY other indication or condition including, Charcot joint.

Shoulder Arthrodesis

| Guideline | |
|---|-----|
| Object Indiana Anthonor describe the disenting of | 0.5 |
| Shoulder Arthrodesis Indications | 25 |
| Shoulder Arthrodesis Non-Indications | 26 |

Shoulder Arthrodesis Indications

CMM.JT.IN.318

v2.0.2025

Shoulder arthrodesis is considered **medically necessary** when ALL of the following criteria have been met:

- Radiographic imaging and/or advanced diagnostic study (i.e., MRI, CT, EMG/NCV, etc.) correlates with the individual's reported symptoms and physical exam findings and is conclusive for ANY of the following findings:
 - irreparable deltoid and rotator cuff deficiency
 - failed total shoulder arthroplasty
 - joint infection
 - reconstruction after tumor resection
 - brachial plexus palsy
 - recurrent shoulder instability, which has failed previous repair/reconstruction
 - paralytic disorder in infancy
- Symptoms include function-limiting pain (e.g., loss of shoulder function which
 interferes with the ability to carry out age-appropriate activities of daily living and/or
 demands of employment) for at least three (3) months duration
- Failure of provider-directed non-surgical management for at least three (3) months duration and is not a candidate for alternative treatments

Shoulder Arthrodesis Non-Indications

CMM.JT.NI.318

v2.0.2025

Not Medically Necessary

Shoulder arthrodesis is considered **not medically necessary** for ANY other indication, condition, or when ANY of the following are present:

- deficient functional scapulothoracic motion
- · paralysis of the trapezius, levator scapulae, and serratus anterior
- Charcot joint
- · ipsilateral elbow arthrodesis
- · contralateral shoulder arthrodesis

Codes (CMM-318)

| Guideline | Page |
|-----------------|------|
| | |
| Codes (CMM-318) | 28 |

Codes (CMM-318)

CMM.JT.PC.318

v2.0.2025

The inclusion of any code in this table does not imply that the code is under management or requires prior authorization. Refer to the applicable health plan for management details. Prior authorization of a code listed in this table is not a guarantee of payment. The Certificate of Coverage or Evidence of Coverage policy outlines the terms and conditions of the member's health insurance policy.

| Code | Code Description/Definition |
|-------|--|
| 23470 | Arthroplasty, glenohumeral joint; hemiarthroplasty |
| 23472 | Arthroplasty, glenohumeral joint; total shoulder (glenoid and proximal humeral replacement [e.g., total shoulder]) |
| 23473 | Revision of total shoulder arthroplasty, including allograft when performed; humeral or glenoid component |
| 23474 | Revision of total shoulder arthroplasty, including allograft when performed; humeral and glenoid component |
| 23800 | Arthrodesis, glenohumeral joint |
| 23802 | Arthrodesis, glenohumeral joint; with autogenous graft (includes obtaining graft) |

Evidence Discussion (CMM-318)

| Guideline | Page |
|-------------------------------|------|
| Evidence Discussion (CMM-318) | 30 |

Evidence Discussion (CMM-318)

CMM.JT.ED.318

v2.0.2025

Shoulder Arthroplasty/ Replacement/ Resurfacing/ Revision/ Arthrodesis)

Risks of shoulder arthroplasty surgery include, but are not limited to the following: infection; functional limitations; persistent pain or stiffness; neurovascular injury; fracture; instability; loosening; deep venous thrombosis; pulmonary embolism; anesthesia complications; and, death. ^{2,4,53,62,64} Craig et al. (2019) noted alarmingly high rates of adverse events in elderly individuals. ¹⁸ Given the potential possibility for significant complications, proper patient selection is crucial to minimize the risk benefit ratio.

The initial approach for individuals with glenohumeral osteoarthritis begins with conservative care. Nonsurgical treatment is also used as the first-line treatment for individuals with irreparable rotator cuff tears and rotator cuff arthropathy. Nonsurgical treatment can be successful in many individuals and improvements may be seen within a few weeks or months. 20,44

Imaging findings supporting anatomic total shoulder replacement should demonstrate marked narrowing of the glenohumeral joint space with additional findings that can include cystic changes in the humeral head, irregular joint surfaces, glenoid sclerosis, glenoid osteophyte changes, or glenoid flattening. ^{14,30,31,35,54} These findings are indicative of end stage joint disease. As studies have shown that radiologic severity of shoulder osteoarthritis does not correlate with pain intensity, ^{31,35} the presence of function-limiting pain should be confirmed for potential candidates for shoulder replacement surgery. ^{22,54}

Indications in the literature for reverse total shoulder arthroplasty (RTSA) include individuals with rotator cuff tear arthropathy or pseudoparalysis from an unrepairable/irreparable rotator cuff tear. ^{12,29,32,37,51,56} Additionally, the literature supports RTSA for individuals with osteoarthritis and an intact rotator cuff in the presence of posterior glenoid wear and/or humeral head subluxation. ^{17,32,37,51,59} Deltoid muscle function is essential for RTSA function and stability, therefore, individuals under consideration for RTSA should be carefully screened for deltoid function and any potential cause of deltoid weakness. ^{29,32} The presence of function-limiting pain should also be confirmed for potential surgical candidates. ^{22,54}

RTSA has also been supported in the literature for reconstruction after tumor resection and for proximal humeral fractures that are not repairable or unable to be reconstructed with other techniques. RTSA is also indicated for failed total shoulder replacement

or failed hemiarthroplasty with a dysfunctional rotator cuff that is unrepairable/ irreparable. 32,51

Shoulder hemiarthroplasty is rarely performed compared to anatomic and reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS) Shoulder and Elbow Registry (SER): 2023 Annual Report noted that hemiarthroplasty composed .32% of all shoulder arthroplasty procedures performed between 2015 and 2022. Although not a frequently performed procedure, indications for shoulder hemiarthroplasty include arthritic conditions in which the glenoid bone stock is inadequate to support a glenoid prosthesis, avascular necrosis without glenoid involvement, and proximal humerus fractures not amenable to internal fixation. 14,27

Contraindications to shoulder arthroplasty procedures include active infection, Charcot arthropathy, severe neurological pathologies, and medical comorbidities which would preclude joint replacement surgery. 14,22,23

There is insufficient high-level evidence to support shoulder resurfacing. 60 von Gerhardt et al. (2022) reported the high overall revision rate of 27% between short- and longterm follow-up reflects the need to limit the use of uncemented resurfacing shoulder hemiarthroplasty for the treatment of glenohumeral osteoarthritis. 60

Revision rates after shoulder arthroplasty have been reported as high as one in four. 18 Revision surgery may be performed for recurrent dislocations unresponsive to nonsurgical care, instability, aseptic loosening, periprosthetic infection and periprosthetic fracture. 18,22,25,32,48 Revision surgery may also be recommended for persistent unexplained pain that is unresponsive to conservative care. 5,48 It should be of note that revision surgery is associated with high complication rates.⁴⁸

Shoulder arthrodesis/fusion is a salvage procedure that is rarely considered as a firstline treatment and is rarely performed. Complication rates as high as 43%²⁴ and revision surgery rates as high as 62%⁴⁶ have been associated with shoulder arthrodesis. Common complications include nonunion, malposition of the involved extremity (malunion), fracture, infection, and need for revision surgery. 1,6,21,24 Also present are general risks of surgery including, but not limited to, the following: neurovascular injury; deep venous thrombosis; pulmonary embolism; anesthesia complications; and, death. Given the significant risks, other treatment options, including extensive conservative management, should be highly considered before proceeding with shoulder fusion. Function-limiting symptoms should also be present when considering shoulder arthrodesis. Indications for shoulder arthrodesis include brachial plexus injury, prior failed shoulder arthroplasty, reconstruction after tumor resection, and chronic infection. 1,6,21,24 Additional indications include individuals with insufficient function of both the rotator cuff and deltoid musculature, refractory glenohumeral instability, and obstetric injury resulting in a flail extremity. 1,6,21,24 Contraindications include the following:deficient functional scapulothoracic motion; paralysis of trapezius,

levator scapulae, and serratus anterior muscles; Charcot arthropathy; ipsilateral elbow arthrodesis; and, contralateral shoulder arthrodesis. 1,6,21,24

As risk for major complications exists for arthroplasty and arthrodesis procedures, it is critical to optimally ensure that individuals receive treatment that is appropriate, safe, and effective.

References (CMM-318)

| Guideline | Page |
|----------------------|------|
| | |
| References (CMM-318) | 34 |

References (CMM-318)

CMM.JT.RF.318

v2.0.2025

- Abboud JA, Cronin KJ. Shoulder Arthrodesis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2022;30(16):e1066-e1075. doi:10.5435/ JAAOS-D-21-00667.
- 2. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). *Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline: Management of Glenohumeral Joint Osteoarthritis*. March 2020. Rosemont, IL. © American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). Available at: https://www.aaos.org/gjocpg.
- 3. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). Shoulder and Elbow Registry (SER): 2023 Annual Report. Rosemont, IL. © American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). Available at: https://www.aaos.org/registries/publications/ser-annual-report/.
- Amundsen A, Rasmussen JV, Olsen BS, Brorson S. Mortality after shoulder arthroplasty: 30-day, 90-day, and 1-year mortality after shoulder replacement--5853 primary operations reported to the Danish Shoulder Arthroplasty Registry. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2016;25(5):756-762. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2015.09.020.
- 5. Ardebol J, Pasqualini I, Hartzler RU, Griffin JW, Lederman E, Denard PJ. Arthroscopic Management of Stiffness and Anterior Shoulder Pain Following Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Arthrosc Tech.* 2022;11(10):e1763-e1768. doi:10.1016/j.eats.2022.06.012.
- Arenas-Miquelez A, Arbeloa-Gutierrez L, Familiari F, de Pablos J. Salvage Procedures of the Shoulder: Glenohumeral Arthrodesis and Resection Arthroplasty. *Indian J Orthop*. 2020;55(Suppl 1):27-37. doi:10.1007/s43465-020-00279-0.
- 7. Armitage JS, Faber KJ, Drosdowech DS, Litchfield RB, Athwal GS. Humeral head bone defects: Remplissage, allograft and arthroplasty. *Orthop Clin North Am.* 2010;41(3):417-425. doi:10.1016/j.ocl.2010.03.004.
- 8. Berk AN, Cregar WM, Gachigi KK, et al. Outcomes of subacromial balloon spacer implantation for irreparable rotator cuff tears: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg.* 2023;32(10):2180-2191. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2023.04.016.
- Bi AS, Anil U, Colasanti CA, et al. Comparison of Multiple Surgical Treatments for Massive Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears in Patients Younger Than 70 Years of Age: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2024;52(11):2919-2930. doi:10.1177/03635465231204623.
- 10. Boileau P, Chuinard C, Roussanne Y, Bicknell RT, Rochet N, Trojani C. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty combined with a modified latissimus dorsi and teres major tendon transfer for shoulder pseudoparalysis associated with dropping arm. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2008;466(3):584-593. doi:10.1007/s11999-008-0114-x.
- 11. Burgess DL, McGrath MS, Bonutti PM, Marker DR, Delanois RE, Mont MA. Shoulder resurfacing. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2009;91(5):1228-1238. doi:10.2106/JBJS.H.01082.5.11.
- 12. Burnier M, Elhassan BT, Sanchez-Sotelo J. Surgical Management of Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears: What Works, What Does Not, and What Is Coming. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2019;101(17):1603-1612. doi:10.2106/JBJS.18.01392.
- Campbell WC, Canale ST, Beaty JH. Canale ST, Beaty JH, eds. Campbell's Operative Orthopaedics. 11th ed. 2007;483-524. Mosby/Elsevier. Philadelphia, PA. 2008.
- 14. Caniggia M, Fornara P, Franci M, Maniscalco P, Picinotti A. Shoulder arthroplasty. Indications, contraindications and complications. *Panminerva Med.* 1999;41(4):341-349.
- 15. Castillo Mercado JS, Rojas Lievano J, Zaldivar B, Barajas C, Fierro G, González JC. Atraumatic osteonecrosis of the humeral head: pathophysiology and current concepts of evaluation and treatment. *JSES Rev Rep Tech*. 2022;2(3):277-284. doi:10.1016/j.xrrt.2022.02.005.
- 16. Cofield RH. Subscapular muscle transposition for repair of chronic rotator cuff tears. *Surg Gynecol Obstet.* 1982;154(5):667–672.
- 17. Collin P, Hervé A, Walch G, Boileau P, Muniandy M, Chelli M. Mid-term results of reverse shoulder arthroplasty for glenohumeral osteoarthritis with posterior glenoid deficiency and humeral subluxation. *J Shoulder Elbow Surgery*. 2019;28(10):2023-2030. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2019.03.002.

- 18. Craig RS, Lane JCE, Carr AJ, Furniss D, Collins GS, Rees JL. Serious adverse events and lifetime risk of reoperation after elective shoulder replacement: population based cohort study using hospital episode statistics for England. *BMJ*. 2019;364:l298. doi:10.1136/bmj.l298.
- 19. Cuff D, Pupello D, Virani N, Levy J, Frankle M. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty for the treatment of rotator cuff deficiency. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2008;90(6):1244-1251. doi:10.2106/JBJS.G.00775.
- 20. Cvetanovich GL, Waterman BR, Verma NN, Romeo AA. Management of the Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tear. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2019;27(24):909-917. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-18-00199.
- 21. Del Core MA, Cutler HS, Schacherer T, Khazzam M. Glenohumeral arthrodesis. *JSES Rev Rep Tech.* 2021;1(4):367-372. doi:10.1016/j.xrrt.2021.08.011.
- 22. Eichinger JK, Galvin JW. Management of complications after total shoulder arthroplasty. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med*. 2015;8(1):83-91. doi:10.1007/s12178-014-9251-x.
- 23. Ernstbrunner L, Suter A, Catanzaro S, Rahm S, Gerber C. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthropathy for Massive Irreparable Rotator Cuff Tears Before the Age of 60 Years. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2017;99(20):1721-1729. doi:10.2106/JBJS.17.00095.
- 24. Fuchs B, O'Connor MI, Padgett DJ, Kaufman KR, Sim FH. Arthrodesis of the shoulder after tumor resection. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2005;(436):202-207. doi:10.1097/01.blo.0000162997.31976.15.
- 25. Gauci MO, Cavalier M, Gonzalez JF, et al. Revision of failed shoulder arthroplasty: epidemiology, etiology, and surgical options. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2020;29(3):541-549. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2019.07.034.
- 26. Grassi FA, Murena L, Valli F, Alberio R. Six-year experience with the Delta III reverse shoulder prosthesis. *J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong)*. 2009;17(2):151-156. doi:10.1177/230949900901700205.
- 27. Hackett DJ Jr, Hsu JE, Matsen FA 3rd. Primary Shoulder Hemiarthroplasty: What Can Be Learned From 359 Cases That Were Surgically Revised?. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2018;476(5):1031-1040. doi:10.1007/s11999.00000000000167.
- 28. Harreld KL, Puskas BL, Frankle MA. Massive rotator cuff tears without arthropathy: when to consider reverse shoulder arthropathy. *Instr Course Lect.* 2012;61:143-156.
- 29. Hartzler RU, Steen BM, Hussey MM, et al. Reverse shoulder arthroplasty for massive rotator cuff tear: risk factors for poor functional improvement. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2015;24(11):1698-1706. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2015.04.015. 27.
- 30. Ibounig T, Simons T, Launonen A, Paavola M. Glenohumeral osteoarthritis: an overview of etiology and diagnostics. *Scand J Surg.* 2021;110(3):441-451. doi:10.1177/1457496920935018.
- 31. Kircher J, Morhard M, Magosch P, Ebinger N, Lichtenberg S, Habermeyer P. How much are radiological parameters related to clinical symptoms and function in osteoarthritis of the shoulder?. *Int Orthop*. 2010;34(5):677-681. doi:10.1007/s00264-009-0846-6.
- 32. Kozak T, Bauer S, Walch G, Al-Karawi S, Blakeney W. An update on reverse total shoulder arthroplasty: current indications, new designs, same old problems. *EFORT Open Rev.* 2021;6(3):189-201. doi:10.1302/2058-5241.6.200085.
- 33. Kumar S, Kelly CP. Best practice in shoulder arthroplasty-a reflective personal review. *J Orthop*. 2022;35:140-144. doi:10.1016/j.jor.2022.11.006.
- 34. Lollino N, Pellegrini A, Paladini P, Campi F, Porcellini G. Gleno-Humeral arthritis in young patients: clinical and radiographic analysis of humerus resurfacing prosthesis and meniscus interposition. *Musculoskelet Surg.* 2011;95(Suppl 1):S59-S63. doi:10.1007/s12306-011-0122-y.
- 35. Märtens N, März V, Bertrand J, Lohmann CH, Berth A. Radiological changes in shoulder osteoarthritis and pain sensation correlate with patients' age. *J Orthop Surg Res.* 2022;17(1):277. doi:10.1186/s13018-022-03137-x.
- 36. Martin TG, lannotti JP. Reverse total shoulder arthroplasty for acute fractures and failed management after proximal humeral fractures. *Orthop Clin North Am.* 2008;39(4):451-457.doi:10.1016/j.ocl.2008.06.006.
- 37. McFarland EG, Huri G, Hyun YS, Petersen SA, Srikumaran U. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty without Bone-Grafting for Severe Glenoid Bone Loss in Patients with Osteoarthritis and Intact Rotator Cuff. *J Bone Joint Surg.* 2016;98(21):1801-1807. doi:10.2106/jbjs.15.01181.
- 38. Middernacht B, De Roo P, Van Maele G, De Wilde LF. Consequences of scapular anatomy for reversed total shoulder arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2008;46(6):1410-1418. doi:10.1007/s11999-008-0187-6.
- 39. Miettinen SSA, Liu Y, Kröger H. Long-term survival of resurfacing humeral hemiarthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. 2024. [Epub ahead of print May 29, 2024]. doi:10.1007/s00590-024-04010-9.
- 40. Millett PJ, Gobezie R, Boykin RE. Shoulder osteoarthritis: diagnosis and management. *Am Fam Physician*. 2008;78(5):605-611.

- 41. Mizuno N, Denard PJ, Raiss P, Walch G. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty for Primary Glenohumeral Osteoarthritis in Patients with a Biconcave Glenoid. *J Bone Joint Surgery Am.* 2013;95(14):1297-1304. doi:10.2106/jbjs.I.00820.
- 42. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). *Interventional Procedures Guidance [IPG354]:*Shoulder resurfacing arthroplasty. July 2010. © NICE. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ipg354.
- 43. Polisetty TS, Swanson DP, Hart PJ, et al. Anatomic and reverse shoulder arthroplasty for management of type B2 and B3 glenoids: a matched-cohort analysis. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2023;32(8):1629-1637. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2023.02.125.
- 44. Pompan DC. Appropriate use of MRI for evaluating common musculoskeletal conditions. *Am Fam Physician*. 2011;83(8):883-884.
- 45. Pritchett JW. Long-term results and patient satisfaction after shoulder resurfacing. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2011;20(5):771-777. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2010.08.014.
- 46. Puskas GJ, Lädermann A, Hirsiger S, Hoffmeyer P, Gerber C. Revision rate after screw or plate arthrodesis of the glenohumeral joint. *Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.* 2017;103(6):875-884. doi:10.1016/j.otsr.2017.05.021.
- 47. Raval P, Gibbs VN, Pandey R. Preoperative partial-thickness rotator cuff tears do not compromise anatomic total shoulder replacement outcomes: medium-term follow-up. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2021;30(4):871-876. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2020.07.037.
- 48. Ravi V, Murphy RJ, Moverley R, Derias M, Phadnis J. Outcome and complications following revision shoulder arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bone Jt Open.* 2021;2(8):618-630. doi:10.1302/2633-1462.28.BJO-2021-0092.R1.
- 49. Reineck JR, Krishnam SG, Burkhead WZ. Early glenohumeral arthritis in the competing athlete. *Clin J Sport Med*. 2008;27(4):803-819. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2008.07.004.
- 50. Roy JS, Macdermid JC, Goel D, Faber KJ, Athwal GS, Drosdowech DS. What is a successful outcome following reverse total shoulder arthroplasty? *Open Orthop J.* 2010;(4):157-163. doi:10.2174/1874325001004010157.
- 51. Rugg CM, Coughlan MJ, Lansdown DA. Reverse Total Shoulder Arthroplasty: Biomechanics and Indications. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.* 2019;12(4):542-553. doi:10.1007/s12178-019-09586-y.
- 52. Sanchez-Sotelo J, Cofield RH, Rowland CM. Shoulder Hemiarthroplasty for Glenohumeral Arthritis Associated with Severe Rotator Cuff Deficiency. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2001;83(12):1814-1822. doi:10.2106/00004623-200112000-00008.
- 53. Scarlat MM. Complications with reverse total shoulder arthroplasty and recent evolutions. *Int Orthop*. 2013;37(5):843-851. doi:10.1007/s00264-013-1832-6.
- 54. Schumaier A, Abboud J, Grawe B, et al. Evaluating Glenohumeral Osteoarthritis: The Relative Impact of Patient Age, Activity Level, Symptoms, and Kellgren-Lawrence Grade on Treatment. *Arch Bone Jt Surg*. 2019;7(2):151-160.
- 55. Sears BW, Johnston PS, Ramsey ML, Williams GR. Glenoid Bone Loss in Primary Total Shoulder Arthroplasty: Evaluation and Management. *JAAOS*. 2012;20(9):604-613. doi:10.5435/jaaos-20-09-604.
- 56. Sellers TR, Abdelfattah A, Frankle MA. Massive Rotator Cuff Tear: When to Consider Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med*. 2018;11(1):131-140. doi:10.1007/s12178-018-9467-2.
- 57. Tibbetts RM, Wirth MA. Shoulder arthroplasty for the young, active patient. Instr Course Lect. 2011;60:99-104.
- 58. Tokish JM, Brinkman JC. Pseudoparalysis and Pseudoparesis of the Shoulder: Definitions, Management, and Outcomes. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2024;32(21):965-974. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-23-00863.
- 59. Virk M, Yip M, Liuzza L et al. Clinical and radiographic outcomes with a posteriorly augmented glenoid for Walch B2, B3, and C glenoids in reverse total shoulder arthroplasty. *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2020;29(5):e196-e204. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2019.09.031.
- 60. von Gerhardt AL, Willems JIP, Geervliet PC, Spruyt P, van Noort A, Visser CPJ. Long-term results of the uncemented resurfacing shoulder hemiarthroplasty (Global Conservative Anatomic Prosthesis). *J Shoulder Elbow Surg*. 2022;31(4):839-846. doi:10.1016/j.jse.2021.08.021.
- 61. Wagner ER, Houdek MT, Schlek C, et al. Increasing Body Mass Index Is Associated with Worse Outcomes After Shoulder Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2017;99(11):929-937. doi:10.2106/JBJS.15.00255.
- 62. Westermann RW, Pugely AJ, Martin CT, Gao Y, Wolf BR, Hettrich CM. Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty in the United States: A Comparison of National Volume, Patient Demographics, Complications, and Surgical Indications. *Iowa Orthop J.* 2015;35:1-7.
- 63. Wright MA, Keener JD, Chamberlain AM. Comparison of Clinical Outcomes After Anatomic Total Shoulder Arthroplasty and Reverse Shoulder Arthroplasty in Patients 70 Years and Older With Glenohumeral

Osteoarthritis and an Intact Rotator Cuff. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* 2020;28(5):e222-e229. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-19-00166.

64. Wronka KS, Pritchard M, Sinha A. Incidence of symptomatic venous thrombo-embolism following shoulder surgery. *Int Orthop*. 2014;38(7):1415-1418. doi:10.1007/s00264-014-2329-7.